IHS Inc. Form 10-Q September 24, 2009
<u>Table of Contents</u>

	UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
	Washington, D.C. 20549
	FORM 10-Q
(Ma	nrk One)
X	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the quarterly period ended August 31, 2009
	OR
0	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-32511

1	I	1	C	T		7	Ξ.
J	ш	L	3		ΙZ	•	~•

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) 13-3769440 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

15 Inverness Way East

Englewood, CO 80112

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

(303) 790-0600

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. x YES o NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). o YES o NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of large accelerated filer, and accelerated filer, and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer x

Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller Reporting Company o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). o YES x NO

As of August 31, 2009, there were 63,247,630 shares of our Class A Common Stock outstanding.

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I		
Item 1.	Financial Statements	3
Item 2.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	18
-	<u>Operations</u>	
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	25
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	25
PART II		
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	25
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	26
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	26
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	26
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	26
Item 5.	Other Information	26
<u>Item 6.</u>	<u>Exhibits</u>	26
SIGNATURE		27

2

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

IHS INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands except share data)

	As of August 31, 2009 (Unaudited)	As of November 30, 2008 (Audited)
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 118,471	\$ 31,040
Accounts receivable, net	167,190	207,815
Deferred subscription costs	35,682	35,948
Deferred income taxes	28,317	28,801
Other	15,885	14,213
Total current assets	365,545	317,817
Non-current assets:		
Property and equipment, net	68,910	59,578
Equity investments in joint venture		56,139
Intangible assets, net	294,761	285,902
Goodwill, net	828,375	705,077
Prepaid pension asset	11,533	8,768
Other	3,082	2,899
Total non-current assets	1,206,661	1,118,363
Total assets	\$ 1,572,206	\$ 1,436,180
Liabilities and stockholders equity		
Current liabilities:		
Short-term debt	\$ 77,274	\$ 96,020
Accounts payable	20,002	35,084
Accrued compensation	30,500	39,083
Accrued royalties	13,925	24,769
Other accrued expenses	42,746	58,831
Income tax payable	4,200	3,994
Deferred subscription revenue	309,750	288,145
Total current liabilities	498,397	545,926
Accrued pension liability	7,066	6,778
Long-term debt		
Accrued post-retirement benefits	6,577	8,852
Deferred income taxes	76,497	65,749
Other liabilities	11,714	7,820
Commitments and contingencies		
Stockholders equity:		
Class A common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, 80,000,000 shares	647	641
authorized, 64,745,908 and 64,090,207 shares issued, 63,247,630 and		

Edgar Filing: IHS Inc. - Form 10-Q

62,802,179 shares outstanding at August 31, 2009 and November 30, 2008,		
respectively		
Additional paid-in capital	459,821	408,007
Treasury stock, at cost: 1,498,278 and 1,288,028 shares at August 31, 2009		
and November 30, 2008, respectively	(74,154)	(64,632)
Retained earnings	677,983	584,219
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(92,342)	(127,180)
Total stockholders equity	971,955	801,055
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 1.572.206 \$	1.436.180

See accompanying notes.

IHS INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands except per-share amounts)

		Three Months Er 2009	nded A	2008		Nine Months En 2009	ugust 31, 2008	
				(Unaud	lited)			
Revenue:		212.505	_	402.022		<10. 7 00		
Products	\$	213,505	\$	182,032	\$	618,533	\$	524,317
Services		25,980		25,402		91,639		89,087
Total revenue		239,485		207,434		710,172		613,404
Operating expenses:								
Cost of revenue:								
Products		87,078		74,700		251,771		216,502
Services		14,670		16,641		50,808		57,179
Total cost of revenue (includes stock-based								
compensation expense of \$450, \$391, \$1,910								
and \$1,078 for the three and nine months ended								
August 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively)		101,748		91,341		302,579		273,681
Selling, general and administrative (includes								
stock-based compensation expense of \$12,371;								
\$9,961; \$42,352 and \$32,352 for the three and								
nine months ended August 31, 2009 and 2008,								
respectively)		79,369		73,036		248,423		217,845
Depreciation and amortization		12,771		9,675		36,031		28,181
Restructuring charge (credit)		12,771		12,479		(416)		12,479
Gain on sales of assets				12,479		(410)		(119)
Net periodic pension and post-retirement								(119)
benefits		(679)		(1,082)		(2,057)		(3,261)
Other expense (income), net		60		(2,106)		(409)		(3,242)
Total operating expenses		193,269		183,343		584,151		525,564
Operating income		46,216		24,091		126,021		87,840
Interest income		219		754		782		2,668
		(416)		(363)		(1,677)		(1,342)
Interest expense				391				. , ,
Non-operating (loss) income, net Income from continuing operations before		(197)		391		(895)		1,326
income taxes, equity investments and minority interests		46.019		24.482		125,126		89,166
Provision for income taxes		- /		, -		- , -		/
		(11,313)		(4,585)		(29,218)		(25,609)
Income from continuing operations before		24.706		10.007		05.000		(2.557
equity investments and minority interests		34,706		19,897		95,908		63,557
Income from equity investment				1,169		(2.144)		2,213
Minority interests	Ф	24.706	Ф	(42)	Ф	(2,144)	Ф	(57)
Net income	\$	34,706	\$	21,024	\$	93,764	\$	65,713
Net income per share:								
Basic (Class A common stock for 2009; Class A	Φ.	0.55	Φ.	0.2:	Φ.	1.40	Φ.	1.00
and Class B common stock for 2008*)	\$	0.55	\$	0.34	\$	1.49	\$	1.06
Diluted (Class A common stock for 2009;	Ф	0.54	¢.	0.22	Ф	1 47	¢.	1.04
Class A and Class B common stock for 2008*)	\$	0.54	\$	0.33	\$	1.47	\$	1.04

Weighted average shares:

Basic (Class A common stock for 2009; Class A				
and Class B common stock for 2008*)	63,160	61,892	62,998	62,028
Diluted (Class A common stock for 2009;				
Class A and Class B common stock for 2008*)	64,024	62,770	63,837	62,947

^{*}Note that in September 2008, the holder of the Class B common stock elected to convert these shares one-for-one to Class A common stock, after which no shares of Class B common stock were outstanding.

See accompanying notes.

IHS INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

	Nine Months Er	ıded Augı	ıst 31.
	2009	-	2008
	(Unau	dited)	
Operating activities			
Net income	\$ 93,764	\$	65,713
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	36,031		28,181
Stock-based compensation expense	44,262		33,430
Gain on sales of assets, net			(119)
Impairment of assets			323
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation	(9,796)		(1,509)
Distributions from equity-method investment			2,603
Non-cash net periodic pension and post-retirement benefits	(3,004)		(4,685)
Undistributed earnings of equity-method investments, net			(2,213)
Minority interests	497		57
Deferred income taxes	11,380		2,082
Change in assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable, net	50,793		24,555
Other current assets	1,541		(2,881)
Accounts payable	(18,196)		(15,437)
Accrued expenses	(36,036)		(16,503)
Income taxes	(1,308)		(2,615)
Deferred subscription revenue	2,038		26,501
Other liabilities	733		617
Net cash provided by operating activities	172,699		138,100
Investing activities			
Capital expenditures on property and equipment	(17,872)		(8,155)
Acquisitions/consolidation of businesses, net of cash acquired	(62,985)		(130,878)
Intangible assets acquired			(4,000)
Change in other assets	818		(5,721)
Settlements of forward contracts	952		
Sales and maturities of investments			10,500
Proceeds from sales of assets			140
Net cash used in investing activities	(79,087)		(138,114)
Financing activities			
Proceeds from borrowings	94,000		50,000
Repayment of borrowings	(113,266)		(53,099)
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation	9,796		1,509
Proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options	2,044		
Repurchases of common stock	(9,522)		(56,886)
Net cash used in financing activities	(16,948)		(58,476)
Foreign exchange impact on cash balance	10,767		(2,515)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	87,431		(61,005)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	31,040		148,484
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	\$ 118,471	\$	87,479

See accompanying notes.

IHS INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

(In thousands)

	Shares of Class A Common Stock	Class A Common Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Freasury Stock	Retained Earnings	Accumulated Other omprehensive Loss	Total
Balance at							
November 30, 2008	62,802	\$ 641	\$ 408,007	\$ (64,632)	\$ 584,219	\$ (127,180) \$	801,055
Stock-based award activity	446	6	45,197	(9,522)			35,681
Excess tax benefit on vested							
shares			6,617				6,617
Net income					93,764		93,764
Other comprehensive income:							
Foreign currency translation							
adjustments						34,838	34,838
Comprehensive income, net							
of tax							128,602
Balance at August 31, 2009	63,248	\$ 647	\$ 459,821	\$ (74,154)	\$ 677,983	\$ (92,342) \$	971,955

See accompanying notes.

6

IHS INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

IHS Inc. (IHS, the Company, we, our, or us) is a publicly traded Delaware corporation. IHS is a leading provider and comprehensive source of Critical Information and Insight in a sizable global market. Our customers rely on our products and services to facilitate crucial decision-making, support key processes, and improve productivity. At the heart of our products and services is data obtained from public sources, third parties, and our own proprietary databases. We transform that data into Critical Information and Insight that is both useful to our customers and available where and when they make critical business decisions. The data becomes Critical Information when we combine it with our proprietary and third-party technology to create graphical user interfaces, search and navigation tools, and online delivery systems or we deliver as individual documents. We further transform that information into Insight products and services with analysis and interpretation from our teams of experts.

We serve some of the world s largest corporations across multiple industries, as well as governments and other organizations, in more than 100 countries. Our primary operations outside the United States are in the United Kingdom, Canada, Switzerland and China. We have structured our business around our customers and the geographies in which they reside: **Americas** (which includes the United States, Canada, and Latin America); **EMEA** (Europe, the Middle East, and Africa, with India also included in the region), and **APAC** (the Asia Pacific region, which includes many countries such as China, Japan, South Korea, Malaysia, and Australia). This allows us to tailor and expand the solutions we offer to meet the unique needs of our customers both globally and in local markets.

In addition to structuring our business around the regions, we have targeted four specific information domains. Energy, Product Lifecycle, Security, and Environment. Since these four information domains represent areas where our customers have needs for Critical Information and Insight, we use these domains to set priorities and design our business objectives. The information that our customers need to address their complex business issues continues to converge at the intersection of the information domains that we serve. We have categorized these products and services as Intersection and have not allocated them to any specific domain. As we continue to deliver Critical Information and Insight in those four information domains, we prepare our financial reports and analyze our business across our three geographic reportable segments:

Americas, EMEA, and APAC.

Consolidation Policy

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Investments in unconsolidated affiliated companies are accounted for under the equity method and are included in Equity Investments in Joint Venture in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. We generally utilize the equity method of accounting when we have a non-controlling ownership interest of between 20% and 50% in an entity, provided we are able to exercise significant influence over the investee s operations. See Note 2 for discussion related to the consolidation of Lloyd s Register-Fairplay joint venture that was effective December 1, 2008 and the subsequent acquisition of the remaining interest in the joint venture effective June 17, 2009.

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals, which are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our majority-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2008. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended August 31, 2009, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for the full fiscal year and cannot be used to indicate financial performance for the entire year.

The year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet data was derived from the audited November 30, 2008, balance sheet.

Results Subject to Seasonal Variations

Historically, our business has had seasonal aspects. However, with the continued organic growth in our subscription-based business model relative to other revenue streams combined with several acquisitions in recent years, our seasonal aspects have diminished. Our first quarter has historically benefited from the inclusion of the results from CERAWeek, an annual energy executive gathering. CERAWeek is scheduled for our second quarter in 2010.

Table of Contents

Use of Estimates

The preparation of interim condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Significant estimates have been made in areas that include revenue recognition, useful lives of fixed and intangible assets, allocation of purchase price to acquired assets and liabilities, the recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill, income and other taxes, pension and post-retirement benefits, contingent liabilities and stock-based compensation. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassification

Certain prior-year balances have been reclassified to conform to current-year presentation.

Income Taxes

Our effective quarterly rate is estimated based upon the effective tax rate expected to be applicable for the full fiscal year.

Our effective tax rate for the first three quarters of 2009 was 23.4% compared to 28.7% for the prior year period. The 2009 rate reflects a full year of beneficial impact of the internal legal entity reorganization within EMEA completed in the third quarter of 2008 as well as benefits recognized from the successful outcome of tax rulings in certain jurisdictions.

As of August 31, 2009, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was \$1.5 million, of which less than \$0.1 million related to interest. The \$0.2 million decrease in unrecognized tax benefits during the first nine months of 2009 was primarily attributable to the release of reserves during the third quarter of 2009 due to the expiration of audit statutes.

We are subject to taxation and file income tax returns in the U.S. and in many foreign jurisdictions. For U.S. federal and Swiss income tax purposes, all years prior to 2006 are effectively closed. For United Kingdom income tax purposes, all years prior to 2006 are effectively closed. For Canadian income tax purposes, years prior to 2005 are closed.

The open tax years contain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations as it relates to the amount and/or timing of income, deductions and tax credits. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, we believe that adequate amounts of tax and interest have been provided for any adjustments that are expected to result from an audit of the open tax years. Although timing of the resolution and/or closure of audits is highly uncertain, we do not believe it is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits will materially change in the next 12 months.

Evaluation of Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events through September 24, 2009, the date the financial statements were issued.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141(R), *Business Combinations* (SFAS No. 141(R)) and SFAS No. 160, *Accounting and Reporting of Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51* (SFAS No. 160). These new standards will significantly change the accounting for and reporting of business combination transactions and noncontrolling (minority) interests in consolidated financial statements. SFAS Nos. 141(R) and 160 are required to be adopted simultaneously and are effective for the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Thus, we are required to adopt these standards on December 1, 2009, the first day of our 2010 fiscal year. Earlier adoption is prohibited. We will adopt SFAS No. 141(R) and SFAS No. 160 in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 and we do not expect the adoption will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) SFAS No. 141(R)-1, *Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That Arise from Contingencies* (FSP 141(R)-1), to amend and clarify the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and accounting, and related disclosures arising from contingencies in a business combination under SFAS 141(R). Under the new

guidance, assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination that arise from contingencies should be recognized at fair value on the acquisition date if fair value can be determined during the measurement period. If fair value can not be determined, companies should typically account for the acquired contingencies using existing guidance. We will adopt FSP 141(R)-1 along with SFAS 141(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 and we do not expect the adoption will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In May 2009, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 165, *Subsequent Events* (SFAS 165). SFAS 165 establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. Specifically, SFAS 165 provides:

8

- The period after the balance sheet date during which management of a reporting entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements;
- The circumstances under which an entity should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements; and
- The disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date.

SFAS 165 is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009, and shall be applied prospectively. We prospectively adopted SFAS 165 as of September 1, 2009. We are deemed a public entity under SFAS 165; hence, the company evaluates subsequent events through the date the financial statements are issued.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, *Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140* (SFAS No. 166), which results in the removal of the concept of a qualifying special-purpose entity. SFAS No. 166 is effective as of the beginning of each reporting entity s first annual reporting period that begins afte November 15, 2009. We do not expect the adoption will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 167, *Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)*, which addresses the effects of eliminating the qualifying special-purpose entity. SFAS No. 167 is effective as of the beginning of each reporting entity s first annual reporting period that begins after November 15, 2009, We do not expect the adoption will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS Statement No. 168, *The FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162* (SFAS 168). SFAS 168 establishes the *FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM* (Codification) as the single source of authoritative U.S. GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. Rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative U.S. GAAP for SEC registrants. SFAS 168 and the Codification are effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. The Codification supersedes all existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards. All other non-grandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification is deemed non-authoritative. Following SFAS 168, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions, or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. Instead, the FASB will issue Accounting Standards Updates, which will serve only to:

(a) update the Codification; (b) provide background information about the guidance; and (c) provide the bases for conclusions on the change(s) in the Codification. Amendments to the Codification are made by issuing a FASB Accounting Standards Update that will display an issue date expressed as the year with number sequence. The adoption of this standard and the codification is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

2. Business Combination

On March 3, 2008, we acquired Prime Publications Limited (Prime), which owned a 50% interest in the Lloyd s Register-Fairplay Limited (LRF) joint venture, a leading source of global maritime information. LRF is the pre-eminent brand name in the maritime information industry and the only organization that provides comprehensive details of the current world merchant fleet (tankers, cargo, carrier and passenger ships) and a complete range of products and services to assist the world s maritime community. The investment in LRF was the primary asset of Prime. IHS accounted for the joint venture under the equity method of accounting from March 2008 through November 30, 2008. As of December 1, 2008, we obtained an additional 0.1%, bringing us to a 50.1% controlling interest in the joint venture and accordingly began consolidating LRF within our results. On June 17, 2009, we acquired the remaining 49.9% of LRF from Lloyd s Register giving us 100% ownership of LRF. The remaining 49.9% interest was acquired for approximately \$64.0 million.

The impact of consolidating our controlling interest in LRF as of December 1, 2008 and the subsequent acquisition of the remaining interest in the joint venture effective June 17, 2009 was as follows (previously the December 1, 2008 individual assets net of liabilities were classified within the equity method investment balance):

	December 1		June 17, 2009		
		(In thous	ands)		
Assets:					
Current assets	\$	5,597	\$		
Property and equipment		553			
Intangible assets		11,407		18,218	
Goodwill		53,267		50,908	
Total assets		70,824		69,126	
Liabilities:					
Current liabilities		10,487			
Deferred taxes		1,872		5,101	
Other long-term liabilities		2,253			
Total liabilities		14,612		5,101	
Net	\$	56,212	\$	64,025	

3. Commitments and Contingencies

We are a party to various legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, none of these actions, either individually or in the aggregate, is expected to have a material adverse affect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

4. Other Comprehensive Income

Our comprehensive income for the three and nine months ended August 31, 2009 and 2008 was as follows:

	Three Months B	Ended Au	igust 31,		Nine Months Ended August 31,			
	2009 2008				2009		2008	
			(In tho	usands)				
Net income	\$ 34,706	\$	21,024	\$	93,764	\$	65,713	
Other comprehensive income (loss):								
Foreign currency translation adjustment	4,692		(32,042)		34,838		(37,752)	
Total comprehensive income	\$ 39,398	\$	(11,018)	\$	128,602	\$	27,961	

5. Restructuring Charges (Credits)

2008 Restructuring

During the third quarter of 2008, we executed a restructuring initiative which primarily affected the Americas and EMEA segments. One-time, involuntary benefit arrangements and other exit costs are accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. Costs arising under our defined benefit pension plans from providing enhanced benefits are accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 88, Employers Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits. Restructuring and related expenses consisted of direct and incremental costs associated with restructuring and related activities, including severance, outplacement and other employee related benefits; facility closure including non-cash expenses related to fixed asset and leasehold improvement write-offs; and legal expenses associated with employee terminations which were incurred during the third quarter of 2008.

This initiative was undertaken to further the realignment of our resources around our regional organizational structure and to further transform our knowledge-based data accumulation operations to ensure continuous improvement in the quality of the Critical Information and Insight we deliver to our customers. During the course of the restructuring, we reduced our aggregate workforce by approximately 7%, eliminated certain contractor positions and closed certain offices.

Table of Contents

The restructuring charge was incurred in its entirety during the third quarter of 2008. Approximately \$5.8 million of the charge related to our Americas segment, \$6.3 million pertained to our EMEA segment and \$0.4 million related to shared services. The majority of the liability was paid during 2008 and the remaining liability at November 30, 2008 was \$1.0 million. This remaining balance was substantially paid as of August 31, 2009. An over-accrual of \$0.4 million was reversed during the first nine months of 2009.

Global Insight Restructuring

Related to the acquisition of Global Insight in October 2008, we established a plan to streamline the operations of Global Insight and eliminate redundancies as a result of this acquisition. This plan contemplated certain reductions in personnel as well as certain facility consolidations related to this acquisition. We initially established a \$13.0 million liability for restructuring costs in the opening balance sheet. Of this initial amount, \$8.2 million was for employee severance and other termination benefits and \$4.8 million related to facility closure costs. During 2009, management refined its restructuring plan which resulted in a revised estimated liability of \$10.5 million, consisting of \$6.7 million for employee severance and \$3.8 million for facility closures. The \$2.5 million reduction of the liability was recorded against goodwill. Through August 31, 2009, we paid \$4.2 million of the employee severance and other termination benefits and \$0.1 million of the facility closure costs resulting in a remaining liability balance of \$6.2 million as of August 31, 2009.

6. Stock-based Compensation

On August 31, 2009, we had one share-based compensation plan: the Amended and Restated IHS Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The LTIP provides for the grant of non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance units and performance shares, cash-based awards, other stock based awards and covered employee annual incentive awards. The 2004 Directors Stock Plan, a sub-plan under the LTIP, provides for the grant of restricted stock and restricted stock units to non-employee directors as defined in that plan. We believe that such awards better align the interests of our employees and non-employee directors with those of our shareholders.

We have authorized a maximum of 11.25 million shares, less the number of shares relating to any award granted and outstanding.

Stock-based compensation expense that has been charged against income for the plan was as follows:

	Three Months E	anded A	ugust 31,	Nine Months Ended August 31,					
	2009 2008				2009	2008			
			(In tho	usands)					
Cost of revenue	\$ 450	\$	391	\$	1,910	\$	1,078		
Selling, general and administrative	12,371		9,961		42,352		32,352		
Stock-based compensation expense	\$ 12,821	\$	10,352	\$	44,262	\$	33,430		

Total income tax benefit recognized in the statement of operations for share-based compensation arrangements was as follows:

	7	Three Months E	nded Au	igust 31,		Nine Months E	ine Months Ended August 31,					
		2009		2008		2009		2008				
				(In the	ousands)							
Income tax benefit	\$	4,742	\$	3,830	\$	16,375	\$	12,369				

No compensation cost was capitalized during the three and nine months ended August 31, 2009 and August 31, 2008.

Nonvested Stock. Share awards vest from nine months to four years. Share awards are generally subject to either cliff vesting or graded vesting. The fair value of nonvested stock is based on the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. We amortize the value of share awards to expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Approximately half of our outstanding awards are performance based. For those awards, an evaluation is made each quarter as to the likelihood of the performance criteria being met. Compensation expense is then adjusted to reflect the number of shares expected to vest and the cumulative vesting period met to date. Additionally, we estimate forfeitures at the grant date and recognize compensation cost based on the number of awards expected to vest. There may be adjustments in future periods if the likelihood of meeting performance criteria changes or if actual forfeitures differ from our estimates. Our forfeiture rate is based upon historical experience as well as anticipated employee turnover considering certain qualitative factors.

Total compensation expense related to nonvested awards, both share awards and stock options, not yet recognized was \$54.4 million as of August 31, 2009, with a weighted-average recognition period of approximately 1.5 years.

A summary of the status of our nonvested shares as of August 31, 2009, and changes during the nine months ended August 31, 2009, was as follows:

	Shares (In thousands)	Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value
Balances, November 30, 2008	2,176	41.81
Granted	1,088	43.19
Vested	(659)	39.24
Forfeited	(93)	46.27
Balances, August 31, 2009	2,512	45.42

The total fair value of nonvested stock that vested during the nine months ended August 31, 2009, was \$29.7 million based on the weighted-average fair value on the vesting date and \$25.9 million based on the weighted-average fair value on the date of grant.

Stock Options. Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our stock at the date of grant. Options outstanding as of August 31, 2009 either cliff vest after 4 years of continuous service or vest in a graded fashion over three years of continuous service and have 8-year contractual terms. Certain option and share awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the plan).

The following table summarizes changes in outstanding stock options during the nine months ended August 31, 2009, as well as options that are vested and expected to vest and stock options exercisable at August 31, 2009:

	Shares (In thousands)	Weighted- Average Exercise Price	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Term (years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (In thousands)
Outstanding at November 30, 2008	275	\$ 35.18	5.5	\$ 543
Granted				
Exercised	(63)	32.30		
Forfeited	(7)	37.65		
Outstanding at August 31, 2009	205	\$ 35.99	5.3	\$ 2,540
Vested and expected to vest at August 31, 2009	205	\$ 35.99	5.3	\$ 2,540
Exercisable at August 31, 2009	101	\$ 37.65		\$ 1,082

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the table above represent the difference between the closing price of our common stock on August 31, 2009, which was \$48.40, and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock options as of the same date. This represents the benefit that would have been received by the stock option holders if they had exercised all their stock options on August 31, 2009. In future periods, this amount will change depending on fluctuations in our stock price. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the nine months ended August 31, 2009 was \$0.6 million.

7. Debt

On September 7, 2007, we entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (the Revolver). The \$385 million unsecured revolving credit agreement allows us, under certain conditions, to increase the facility to a maximum of \$500 million. The agreement expires in September 2012.

The interest rates for borrowing under the Revolver are based upon our Leverage Ratio, which is the ratio of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to rolling four quarter Consolidated Earnings Before Interest Expense, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA), as defined in the Revolver. The rate ranges from the applicable LIBOR plus 50 basis points to 125 basis points or the agent bank s base rate. A commitment fee is payable periodically and ranges from 10 to 25 basis points based upon our Leverage Ratio. The Revolver contains certain financial and other covenants, including limitations on capital lease obligations and maximum Leverage and Interest Coverage Ratios, as defined in the Revolver.

As of August 31, 2009, we were in compliance with all of the covenants in the agreement and had \$70.0 million of outstanding borrowings with an annual interest rate of 0.81%. In addition, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately \$1.3 million as of August 31, 2009.

As of August 31, 2009, we also had \$7.3 million of non-interest bearing notes that were issued to the sellers of Prime. These notes are due upon demand and are therefore recorded in Short-term Debt in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

8. Pensions and Postretirement Benefits

We have defined-benefit plans and defined-contribution plans. Our defined-benefit plans consist of a non-contributory retirement plan for all of our U.S. employees with at least one year of service (U.S. RIP), a pension plan that covers certain employees of one of our United Kingdom-based subsidiaries (U.K. RIP), and a supplemental income plan (SIP) for certain Company executives.

Our net periodic pension (income) expense was comprised of the following:

	Three Months Ended August 31, 2009						Three Months Ended August 31, 2008								
		U.S.		U.K.					U.S.		U.K.				
		RIP		RIP		SIP	Total		RIP		RIP		SIP		Total
							(In tho	usan	ds)						
Service costs incurred	\$	1,728	\$	139	\$	58	\$ 1,925	\$	1,572	\$	238	\$	72	\$	1,882
Interest costs on projected benefit															
obligation		3,230		419		123	3,772		2,999		539		130		3,668
Expected return on plan assets		(5,227)		(459)			(5,686)		(5,368)		(566)				(5,934)
Amortization of prior service cost		(118)				11	(107)		(118)				11		(107)
Amortization of actuarial loss						21	21						47		47
Amortization of transitional															
obligation/(asset)		(57)				12	(45)		(142)				10		(132)
Net periodic pension benefit															
(income) expense	\$	(444)	\$	99	\$	225	\$ (120)	\$	(1,057)	\$	211	\$	270	\$	(576)

	Nine Months Ended August 31, 2009						Nine Months Ended August 31, 2008									
		U.S. RIP		U.K. RIP SIP		Total (In thousa		U.S. RIP ands)		U.K. RIP		SIP		Total		
Service costs incurred	\$	5,184	\$	387	\$	174	\$ 5,745	\$	4,716	\$	714	\$	216	\$	5,646	
Interest costs on projected benefit																
obligation		9,690		1,166		369	11,225		8,997		1,617		358		10,972	
Expected return on plan assets		(15,681)		(1,278)			(16,959)		(16,097)		(1,690)				(17,787)	
Amortization of prior service cost		(354)				33	(321)		(354)				33		(321)	
Amortization of actuarial loss						63	63						141		141	
Amortization of transitional																
obligation/(asset)		(171)				38	(133)		(426)				30		(396)	
Net periodic pension benefit																
(income) expense	\$	(1,332)	\$	275	\$	677	\$ (380)	\$	(3,164)	\$	641	\$	778	\$	(1,745)	

Table of Contents

Our net periodic post-retirement income was comprised of the following for the three and nine months ended August 31:

	Three Months E	nded A	ugust 31,		Nine Months Ended August 31,					
	2009		2008		2009		2008			
			(In thous	ands)						
Service costs incurred	\$ 14	\$	25	\$	42	\$	75			
Interest costs	158		158		474		474			
Amortization of prior service amounts	(807)		(807)		(2,421)		(2,419)			
Amortization of net actuarial loss	76		118		228		354			
Net periodic post-retirement benefit income	\$ (559)	\$	(506)	\$	(1,677)	\$	(1,516)			

9. Earnings per Share

Earnings per common share (EPS) are computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, *Earnings per Share*. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common shares.

Our authorized capital stock consists of 80,000,000 shares of Class A common stock.

For the period ended August 31, 2008, we used the two-class method for computing basic and diluted EPS amounts. For the period ended August 31, 2009, there was a single class of stock for the purposes of calculating EPS. Weighted average common shares outstanding were calculated as follows:

	Three Months Ended August 3					
	2009 200					
	CI .	Class A and				
	Class A	Class B				
	(In thou	isands)				
Weighted average common shares outstanding:						
Shares used in basic per-share calculation	63,160	61,892				
Effect of dilutive securities:						
Deferred stock units	56	39				
Restricted shares	770	762				
Options	38	77				
Shares used in diluted per-share calculation	64,024	62,770				

	Nine Months Ended August 31				
	2009	2008			
		Class A and			
	Class A	Class B			
	(In thous	sands)			
Weighted average common shares outstanding:					
Shares used in basic per-share calculation	62,998	62,028			
Effect of dilutive securities:					
Deferred stock units	55	39			
Restricted shares	750	808			
Options	34	72			
Shares used in diluted per-share calculation	63,837	62,947			

Share Repurchase Program

During 2006, our board of directors approved a program to reduce the dilutive effects of employee equity grants, by allowing employees to surrender shares back to the Company for a value equal to their statutory tax liability. IHS then pays the statutory tax on behalf of the employee. Additionally, our board of directors periodically approves additional buyback programs whereby IHS acquires shares in the open market to more fully offset the dilutive effect of our employee equity programs. During the three months ended August 31, 2009, we accepted 41,198 shares surrendered by employees under the tax withholding program for approximately \$2.0 million, or \$49.20 per share. In the first nine months of 2009, we accepted 210,250 shares surrendered by employees under the tax withholding program for approximately \$9.5 million, or \$45.29 per share. No shares were repurchased in the first nine months of 2009 pursuant to a share buyback program. Since the inception of these programs, we have withheld for tax 909,644 shares of our Class A common stock for approximately \$45.2 million, or \$49.70 per share and we have repurchased 1,889,557 shares for approximately \$94.7 million or \$50.13 per share pursuant to the stock buyback program.

10. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table presents details of our intangible assets, other than goodwill, as of August 31, 2009:

	Useful Life (Years)	Gross	Accumulated Amortization (In thousands)	Net
Intangible assets subject to amortization:				
Information databases	5 - 15	\$ 193,490	\$ (45,591) \$	147,899
Customer relationships	2 - 15	75,056	(17,982)	57,074
Non-compete agreements	5	5,854	(5,003)	851
Developed computer software	5	24,992	(7,148)	17,844
Other	3 - 11	5,923	(4,503)	1,420
Total		305,315	(80,227)	225,088
Intangible assets not subject to amortization:				
Trademarks		68,455		68,455
Perpetual licenses		1,218		1,218
Total intangible assets		\$ 374,988	\$ (80,227) \$	294,761

The following table presents details of our intangible assets, other than goodwill, as of November 30, 2008:

	Useful Life (Years)	Gross	Accumulated Amortization (In thousands)	Net	
Intangible assets subject to amortization:					
Information databases	5 - 15	\$ 176,637	\$ (27,770)	148,86	7
Customer relationships	2 - 15	72,596	(12,346)	60,25	0
Non-compete agreements	5	5,851	(4,098)	1,75	3
Developed computer software	5	18,700	(4,344)	14,35	6
Other	3 - 11	5,872	(3,190)	2,68	2
Total		279,656	(51,748)	227,90	8
Intangible assets not subject to amortization:					
Trademarks		56,844		56,84	4
Perpetual licenses		1,150		1,15	0
Total intangible assets		\$ 337,650	\$ (51,748)	285,90	2

The estimated amortization expense of intangible assets for business combinations completed as of August 31, 2009 for each of the next five years is as follows:

Year	Amount (In thousands)	
Remainder 2009	\$ 8,10	7
2010	31,589	9
2011	29,980	6
2012	28,29	6
2013	25,610	6

Amortization expense of intangible assets was \$9.1 million and \$6.2 million for the three months ended August 31, 2009 and August 31, 2008, respectively. Amortization expense of intangible assets was \$24.9 million and \$18.2 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009 and August 31, 2008, respectively

Changes in our goodwill and intangible assets from November 30, 2008 to August 31, 2009 were primarily the result of the consolidation of LRF in the first quarter of 2009, the subsequent acquisition of the remaining interest of the joint venture in the third quarter of 2009 and to a lesser extent the impact of foreign currency rates.

11. Segment Information

We prepare our financial reports and analyze our business results within our three reportable geographic segments: Americas, EMEA and APAC. This integrated global organization allows our customers to do business with us by providing a more cohesive, consistent, and effective sales and marketing approach in each region. By structuring our business around our geographic segments, we are able to tailor and expand the solutions we offer to meet the unique needs of our customers both globally and in local markets.

We are also able to manage our activities according to the best practices of each regional segment. This structure provides a solid foundation for growth in each market for all of our capabilities. It allows us an efficient method of bringing new products and services to customers, and supports growth in existing accounts and with new customers and markets.

Information as to the operations of our three segments is set forth below. Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer represents our chief operating decision maker, and he evaluates segment performance based primarily on revenue and operating profit of these three segments. In addition, he also reviews revenue for the domains and Critical Information and Insight offerings. The accounting policies of our segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies (contained in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in our 2008 Form 10-K).

No single customer accounted for 10% or more of our total revenue for the period ended August 31, 2009. There are no material inter-segment revenues for any period presented.

As shown below, certain corporate transactions are not allocated to the reportable segments. Amounts not allocated include, but are not limited to, such items as, stock-based compensation expense, net periodic pension and post-retirement benefits income, corporate-level impairments, and gain (loss) on sales of corporate assets.

	Americas EMI		EMEA	APAC (In thous		Segment Totals sands)		Shared Services		Co	nsolidated Total	
Three months ended August 31, 2009												
Revenue	\$	147,682	\$	72,606	\$	19,197	\$	239,485	\$		\$	239,485
Operating income		48,539		14,352		6,261		69,146		(22,936)		46,216
Depreciation and amortization		7,755		4,461		27		12,243		528		12,771
Three months ended August 31, 2008												
Revenue	\$	128,936	\$	64,665	\$	13,833	\$	207,434	\$		\$	207,434
Operating income		37,160		6,301		4,167		47,628		(23,537)		24,091
Depreciation and amortization		5,502		3,321		29		8,852		823		9,675

	Americas EMEA		Segr APAC To (In thousands)						nsolidated Total	
Nine months ended August 31, 2009										
Revenue	\$	444,668	\$ 209,056	\$ 56,448	\$	710,172	\$		\$	710,172
Operating income		140,223	40,909	17,771		198,897		(72,882)		126,021
Depreciation and amortization		23,161	10,956	78		34,195		1,836		36,031
Nine months ended August 31, 2008										
Revenue	\$	376,328	\$ 195,022	\$ 42,054	\$	613,404	\$		\$	613,404
Operating income		115,164	28,705	11,927		155,796		(67,956)		87,840
Depreciation and amortization		15,780	10,008	101		25,889		2,292		28,181

Revenue by information domain was as follows:

	Three Months Ended August 31, 2009 2008				Nine Months En	nded A	ugust 31, 2008
			(In tho	usands))		
Energy revenue	\$ 109,188	\$	107,613	\$	335,598	\$	327,555
Product Lifecycle revenue	76,510		72,512		220,116		214,355
Security revenue	27,526		20,347		75,681		56,112
Environment revenue	6,319		6,962		20,768		15,382
Intersection revenue	19,942				58,009		
Total revenue	\$ 239,485	\$	207,434	\$	710,172	\$	613,404

Revenue by product category was as follows:

Edgar Filing: IHS Inc. - Form 10-Q

	Three Months E	nded A	ugust 31,		Nine Months E	nded A	ugust 31,
	2009		2008		2009		2008
			(In tho	usands)			
Critical Information Products revenue	\$ 140,890	\$	141,331	\$	412,284	\$	411,001
Critical Information Services revenue	13,541		14,501		40,229		39,945
Insight Products revenue	72,615		40,701		206,249		113,316
Insight Services revenue	12,439		10,901		51,410		49,142
Total revenue	\$ 239,485	\$	207,434	\$	710,172	\$	613,404

Table of Contents

12. Subsequent Event

On September 17, 2009, we acquired Environmental Solution Services, (ESS) for approximately \$59.0 million in cash, net of cash acquired. ESS provides software that enables organizations to address environmental, health, safety and crisis management challenges more efficiently, at lower cost, while improving the quality and accuracy of internal and external reporting.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

We have made statements under the captions Risk Factors, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Business and Properties and in other sections of this Form 10-Q that are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as may, might, will, should, expect, plan, anticipate, believe, estimate. potential, or continue, the negative of these terms, and other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, may include projections of our future financial performance based on our growth strategies and anticipated trends in our business. These statements are only predictions based on our current expectations and projections about future events. There are important factors that could cause our actual results, level of activity, performance, or achievements to differ materially from the results, level of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In particular, you should consider the risks outlined under Risk Factors in the 2008 Form 10-K.

Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, level of activity, performance, or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.

We are under no duty to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this Form 10-Q to conform our prior statements to actual results or revised expectations.

Overview

Results of Operations

IHS is a leading provider and comprehensive source of Critical Information and Insight in a sizable global market. Our customers rely on our products and services to facilitate crucial decision-making, support key processes, and improve productivity. At the heart of our products and services is data obtained from public sources, third parties, and our own proprietary databases. We transform that data into Critical Information and Insight that is both useful to our customers and available where and when they make critical business decisions. The data is transformed into Critical Information when we combine it with our proprietary and third-party technology to create graphical user interfaces, search and navigation tools, and online delivery systems or we deliver as individual documents. We further transform that information into Insight products and services with analysis and interpretation from our teams of experts.

We sell our offerings primarily through subscriptions, which typically represents greater than 75% or our reported revenue. As a result of our subscription-based business model and historically high renewal rates, we generate recurring revenue and cash flow. We generally recognize revenue from subscriptions (which are usually for one-year periods) ratably over the term of the subscription. Subscriptions are generally paid in full within one to two months after the subscription period commences. As a result, the timing of our cash flows generally precedes the recognition of revenue and income. Historically, our business has had seasonal aspects. However, with the continued organic growth in our subscription-based business model combined with several acquisitions in recent years, our seasonal aspects have diminished. Our first quarter has historically benefited from the inclusion of the results from CERAWeek, an annual energy executive gathering. CERAWeek is scheduled for the second quarter in 2010.

We serve some of the world s largest corporations across multiple industries, as well as governments and other organizations, in more than 100 countries. Our primary operations outside the United States are in the United Kingdom, Canada, Switzerland and China. We have structured our business around our customers and the geographies in which they reside: **Americas** (which includes the United States, Canada, and Latin

America); **EMEA** (Europe, the Middle East, and Africa, with India also included in the region), and **APAC** (the Asia Pacific region, which includes many countries such as China, Japan, South Korea, Malaysia, and Australia). This allows us to tailor and expand the solutions we offer to meet the unique needs of our customers both globally and in local markets.

Our consolidated financial statements are expressed in U.S. dollars, but a portion of our business is conducted in currencies other than U.S. dollars. Approximately 50% of our revenue is transacted outside of the United States, however, only approximately 30% of our revenue is transacted in a currency other than U.S. dollars. As a result, a strengthening U.S. dollar has a negative impact on our revenue while the impact on operating income is mitigated due to certain operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

We have targeted four specific information domains Energy, Product Lifecycle, Security, and Environment. Since these four information domains represent areas where our customers have needs for Critical Information and Insight, we use these domains to set

priorities and design our business strategies. In addition, we have certain product lines that intersect multiple domains. We have categorized these products and services as Intersection and have not allocated them to any specific domain.

As we continue to deliver Critical Information and Insight in these four information domains, we prepare our financial reports and analyze our business across our three reportable geographic segments. As the information that our customers need to address their complex business issues continues to converge at the intersection of the information domains that we serve, we have organized our management structure to a geographic focus, the point of contact with our customers. This integrated global organization allows for our customers to do business with us by providing a cohesive, consistent, and effective sales and marketing approach in each region. By structuring our business around customers and the geographies in which they reside, we are able to tailor and expand the solutions we offer to meet the unique needs of our customers both globally and in local markets. We are also able to manage our Critical Information and Insight activities according to the best practices of each. This structure provides a solid foundation for growth in each market for all of our capabilities. It allows us an efficient method of bringing new products and services to customers, and supports growth in existing accounts and with new customers and markets.

Inherent in all of our strategies is a firm commitment to put our customers first in everything that we do. We believe that maintaining a disciplined outside-in approach will allow us to better serve our customers and our shareholders. Our primary strategy is to achieve and strengthen a leading position in and at the intersection of our targeted information domains. We also intend to continue driving margin and quality improvement through operational transformation.

Business Combination

On March 3, 2008, we acquired Prime Publications Limited (Prime), which owned a 50% interest in the Lloyd s Register-Fairplay Limited (LRF) joint venture, a leading source of global maritime information. LRF is the pre-eminent brand name in the maritime information industry and the only organization that provides comprehensive details of the current world merchant fleet (tankers, cargo, carrier and passenger ships) and a complete range of products and services to assist the world s maritime community. The investment in LRF was the primary asset of Prime. IHS accounted for the joint venture under the equity method of accounting from March 2008 through November 30, 2008. As of December 1, 2008, we obtained an additional 0.1%, bringing us to a 50.1% controlling interest in the joint venture and accordingly began consolidating LRF within our results. On June 17, 2009, we acquired the remaining 49.9% of LRF from Lloyd s Register giving us 100% ownership of LRF. The remaining 49.9% interest was acquired for approximately \$64.0 million.

Segment Information

	A	Americas	EMEA	APAC (In thou		Segment Totals ands)		Shared Services	Co	nsolidated Total
Three months ended August 31, 2009										
Revenue	\$	147,682	\$ 72,606	\$ 19,197	\$	239,485	\$		\$	239,485
Operating income		48,539	14,352	6,261		69,146		(22,936)		46,216
Depreciation and amortization		7,755	4,461	27		12,243		528		12,771
Three months ended August 31,										
2008										
Revenue	\$	128,936	\$ 64,665	\$ 13,833	\$	207,434	\$		\$	207,434
Operating income		37,160	6,301	4,167		47,628		(23,537)		24,091
Depreciation and amortization		5,502	3,321	29		8,852		823		9,675
					Segment Totals		Totals Service			
	A	Americas	EMEA	APAC (In thou		Totals		Shared Services	Co	nsolidated Total
Nine months ended August 31, 2009	A	Americas	EMEA	_		Totals			Co	
	\$	Americas 444,668	\$ EMEA 209,056	\$ _		Totals			Co \$	
2009			\$	\$ (In thou	sands	Totals	;			Total
2009 Revenue		444,668	\$ 209,056	\$ (In thou 56,448	sands	Totals) 710,172	;	Services		Total 710,172
2009 Revenue Operating income		444,668 140,223	\$ 209,056 40,909	\$ (In thou 56,448 17,771	sands	710,172 198,897	;	(72,882)		710,172 126,021
2009 Revenue Operating income Depreciation and amortization Nine months ended August 31,		444,668 140,223	\$ 209,056 40,909	\$ (In thou 56,448 17,771	sands	710,172 198,897	;	(72,882)		710,172 126,021
2009 Revenue Operating income Depreciation and amortization Nine months ended August 31, 2008	\$	444,668 140,223 23,161	209,056 40,909 10,956	(In thou 56,448 17,771 78	sands	710,172 198,897 34,195	\$	(72,882)	\$	710,172 126,021 36,031

Revenue by information domain was as follows:

Table of Contents

	T	Three Months E	Ended A	ugust 31,		Nine Months E	nded Aı	ugust 31,
		2009		2008		2009		2008
				(In tho	usands)			
Energy revenue	\$	109,188	\$	107,613	\$	335,598	\$	327,555
Product Lifecycle revenue		76,510		72,512		220,116		214,355
Security revenue		27,526		20,347		75,681		56,112
Environment revenue		6,319		6,962		20,768		15,382
Intersection revenue		19,942				58,009		
Total revenue	\$	239,485	\$	207,434	\$	710,172	\$	613,404

Revenue by product category was as follows:

	Three Months E	nded A	ugust 31,		Nine Months E	nded Aı	igust 31,
	2009		2008		2009		2008
			(In tho	usands)		
Critical Information Products revenue	\$ 140,890	\$	141,331	\$	412,284	\$	411,001
Critical Information Services revenue	13,541		14,501		40,229		39,945
Insight Products revenue	72,615		40,701		206,249		113,316
Insight Services revenue	12,439		10,901		51,410		49,142
Total revenue	\$ 239,485	\$	207,434	\$	710,172	\$	613,404

Three Months Ended August 31, 2009 Compared to the Three Months Ended August 31, 2008

Revenue. Revenue was \$239 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 15% over the prior year. This increase was driven in part by acquisitions which contributed 17% and organic growth which contributed 2%. Foreign currency rates had an adverse impact of 4%.

Revenue for our Americas segment was \$148 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 15% over the prior year. This increase was driven by acquisitions which added 16%. Organic revenue was flat with organic subscription revenue growing by 5%, offset by decreases in consulting, transaction and other revenue. Foreign currency rates held revenue down by approximately 1%.

Revenue for our EMEA segment was \$72.6 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, compared to \$64.7 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2008, an increase of 12%. This increase was driven primarily by acquisitions which contributed 19% and organic revenue which increased by 3%. The organic subscription revenue grew 14% which was partially offset by decreases in consulting, transaction and other revenue. Foreign currency movements adversely impacted revenue by 9%.

Revenue for our APAC segment was \$19.2 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 39% over the prior year. This increase was driven by acquisitions which contributed 23% and organic growth which contributed 19%. The organic increase was due primarily to growth in subscription revenue. Foreign currency movements held revenue down by 4%.

Our subscription-based revenue accounted for 80% of our revenue in the quarter and, while growth in this area of the business is slowing, it experienced an organic growth rate of 9% over the third quarter of 2008. This growth rate was approximately 1.5% lower sequentially from the quarter ended May 31, 2009. Our other revenue types (consulting, transaction and other revenue) have been more greatly impacted by the current difficult economic environment. Consulting and transaction revenue were down organically by 32% and 12%, respectively. Revenue from other revenue types also decreased by 15% organically due to slower software and advertising sales. Cash-based sales represents completed contracts with customers, however the revenue is deferred over the subscription period. This measure is a leading indicator of current sales performance. Year-to-date cash-based sales, or invoiced sales of subscription products have grown over the same period prior year, however at a lower growth rate than the 9% earned revenue growth. As a result, we expect the subscription based revenue growth rates to continue to decline through the fourth quarter of 2009.

Revenue for the Energy domain was \$109 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 1% over the quarter ended August 31, 2008. This growth was primarily due to an increase in the subscription-based sales which was partially offset by the impact of foreign currency movements and a decrease in consulting revenue. Product Lifecycle domain revenue was \$76.5 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 6% over the quarter ended August 31, 2008 which was primarily due to increased subscription-based revenue and partially offset by the impact of foreign currency movements. Revenue for the Security domain was \$27.5 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 35% over the quarter ended August 31, 2008, primarily the result of the consolidation of LRF. Environment domain revenue was \$6.3 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, a decrease of 9% due to a decrease in services revenue. Intersection revenue, which includes

offerings that intersect multiple domains, was \$19.9 million in the third quarter of 2009 and was entirely attributable to acquisitions.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue was \$102 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 11%. In general, our subscription-based revenue generates higher margins as it has a relatively fixed-based cost structure whereas consulting and transaction revenue have comparatively lower margins due to the variable direct costs associated with these revenue streams. We define sales margins as revenue net of costs of sales, as a percentage of sales. Total sales margins improved to 57.5% from 56.0%. Sales margins within our Americas segment decreased to 58.7% from 59.6% resulting primarily from the impact of the Global Insight acquisition which has a higher concentration of lower margin consulting revenue. Sales margins within our EMEA segment improved to 55.1% from 50.2% due to increased sales of our subscription-based products which was partially offset by the impact of the lower margin Global Insight revenue. In addition, the restructuring in the third quarter of 2008 resulted in reduced costs of revenue in the Americas and EMEA segments in 2009. Sales margins within our APAC segment improved to 62.5% from 58.6%. This improvement was principally due to an increase in higher margin subscription-based products combined with a decrease in lower margin services and the impact of foreign currency fluctuations which have a more dramatic impact on revenue than they do cost of revenue, resulting in margin improvement.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were \$79.4 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 9%. Stock-based compensation expense included in SG&A increased \$2.4 million to \$12.4 million. Excluding stock-based compensation, organic SG&A decreased by \$4.1 million as we continue to carefully control operating costs which was partially offset by increased spending related to our quote-to-cash system implementation and other initiatives. Acquisitions contributed \$10.7 million of the increase. Foreign currency movements decreased SG&A by \$2.6 million. As a percentage of revenue and excluding stock-based compensation expense, SG&A decreased from 30.4% for the third quarter of 2008 to 28.0% for the third quarter of 2009.

Restructuring Charge. During the third quarter of 2008, we executed a restructuring initiative which primarily affected the Americas and EMEA segments. This initiative was undertaken to further the realignment of our resources around our regional organizational structure and to further transform our knowledge-based data accumulation operations to ensure continuous improvement in the quality of the critical information and insight we deliver to our customers. During the course of the restructuring, we reduced our aggregate workforce by approximately 7%, we eliminated certain contractor positions and we closed certain offices. The restructuring charge of \$12.5 million was incurred in its entirety during the third quarter of 2008 and was comprised primarily of employee severance and termination benefits. Approximately \$5.8 million of the charge related to our Americas segment, \$6.3 million pertained to our EMEA segment and \$0.4 million related to corporate costs.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses. Depreciation and amortization expenses were \$12.8 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, compared to \$9.7 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2008, an increase of 32% over the prior year. The increase was primarily due to addition of depreciable and amortizable assets from acquisitions made within the last year.

Operating Income. Operating income was \$46.2 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 92%. As a percentage of revenue, operating income increased to 19.3% for the quarter ended August 31, 2009 from 11.6% for the quarter ended August 31, 2008. The third quarter of 2008 was impacted by a restructuring charge of \$12.5 million. Without this charge, the operating income as a percentage of revenue for the third quarter of 2008 would have been 17.6%.

Operating income for our Americas segment was \$48.5 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 31%. The increase was principally due to the fact that the third quarter of 2008 included a restructuring charge of \$5.8 million. In addition, 2009 had higher sales margins. As a percentage of revenue, Americas operating income increased to 32.9% from 28.8% in the third quarter of 2008. Without the restructuring charge, the operating income as a percentage of revenue would have been 33.3% in the third quarter of 2008. The normalized decrease is due primarily to higher depreciation and amortization costs related to acquisitions.

Operating income for our EMEA segment was \$14.4 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 128%. The increase was primarily due to the third quarter of 2008 including a restructuring charge of \$6.3 million. In addition, 2009 had higher sales margins. As a percentage of revenue, EMEA operating income increased to 19.8% for the quarter ended August 31, 2009 compared to 9.7% for the quarter ended August 31, 2008. Without the restructuring charge, the operating income as a percentage of revenue would have been 19.5% in the third quarter of 2008.

Operating income for our APAC segment was \$6.3 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 50%. Operating income increased due to the increase in sales. As a percentage of revenue, APAC operating income improved to 32.6% for the quarter ended August 31, 2009 from 30.1% for the quarter ended August 31, 2008. This increase was due to the mix of products sold with higher growth of higher margin subscription-based products in the third quarter of 2009.

Operating expenses for our shared services were \$22.9 million for the quarter ended August 31, 2009, a decrease of 3%. As a percentage of revenue, operating expenses for our shared services was 9.6% for the quarter ended August 31, 2009 compared to 11.3%

for the quarter ended August 31, 2008. The decrease was primarily due to reduced travel and other cost containment initiatives during 2009.

Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate for the period ended August 31, 2009 was 24.6%, compared to 18.7% for the period ended August 31, 2008. The 2008 rate reflects the year-to-date impact of our internal legal entity reorganization within EMEA that occurred in the third quarter of 2008 and is reflected ratably in each quarter of 2009.

Nine Months Ended August 31, 2009 Compared to the Nine Months Ended August 31, 2008

Revenue. Revenue was \$710 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 16% over the prior year. This increase was driven in part by acquisitions which contributed 18%, and organic growth which contributed 4%. Foreign currency movements had an adverse impact of 6%. Moreover, the growth that we attribute to acquisitions was also negatively impacted by foreign currency. When taking this into consideration, foreign exchange negatively impacted our overall revenue growth by approximately 8% in the first three quarters of 2009 in comparison to the first three quarters of 2008.

Revenue for our Americas segment was \$445 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 18% over the prior year. This increase was driven primarily by acquisitions which contributed 17%. Organic growth contributed 4% which was in line with overall company growth and was driven by growth in subscription products which grew 7% organically. This was partially offset by lower organic consulting and transaction revenue. Additionally, foreign currency held down revenue by 3%.

Revenue for our EMEA segment was \$209 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 7% over the prior year. This increase was driven primarily by acquisitions which contributed 20%. Organic revenue was flat with organic subscription revenue growing 13% which was offset by lower organic consulting and transaction revenue. Additionally foreign currency movements adversely impacted revenue by 13%.

Revenue for our APAC segment was \$56.4 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 34%. This increase was driven by acquisitions which contributed 23% and organic growth which contributed 17%. The organic increase was due to growth in subscription products. Foreign currency movements held down revenue by 6%.

Our subscription based revenue accounted for 78% of our revenue in the first three quarters of 2009, while growth in this area of the business is slowing, it experienced a 10% organic growth rate compared to the first nine months of 2008. Our other revenue types (consulting, transaction and other revenue) have been more greatly impacted by the current difficult economic environment. Transaction and consulting revenue were down organically by 17% and 33%, respectively. In addition, other revenue decreased 3% organically. Cash-based sales represents completed contracts with customers, however the revenue is deferred over the subscription period. This measure is a leading indicator of current sales performance. Year-to-date cash-based sales, or invoiced sales of subscription products have grown over the same period prior year, however at a lower growth rate than the 10% earned revenue growth. As a result, we expect the subscription based revenue growth rates to continue to decline through the fourth quarter of 2009.

Revenue for the Energy domain was \$336 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 2% over the same period in 2008. This growth was primarily due to an increase in the subscription-based sales which was partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency movements and a decrease in consulting revenue. Product Lifecycle domain revenue was \$220 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 3% over the nine months ended August 31, 2008 which was primarily due to increased subscription revenue and partially offset by the impact of foreign currency movements. Revenue for the Security domain was \$75.7 million for the first three quarters of 2009, an increase of \$19.6 million over the same period in 2008, which was primarily due to the consolidation of LRF and partially offset by the impact of foreign currency movements. Environment domain revenue was \$20.8 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009 compared to \$15.4 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2008. The increase was primarily from acquisitions. Intersection revenue, which includes product lines that intersect multiple domains, was \$58.0 million in the first nine months of 2009 and was entirely attributable to acquisitions.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue was \$303 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 11%. In general, our subscription-based revenue generates higher margins as it has a relatively fixed-based cost structure whereas consulting and transaction revenue have comparatively lower margins due to the variable direct costs associated with these revenue streams. We define sales margins as revenue net of costs of sales, as a percentage of sales. Total sales margins improved to 57.4% from 55.4%. Sales margins within our Americas segment improved to 58.8% from 58.0% resulting from increased sales in our subscription based products and partially offset by the impact of the Global Insight acquisition which has a higher concentration of lower margin consulting revenue. Sales margins within our EMEA segment improved to 54.8% from 51.5% due to increased sales of our subscription-based products and partially offset by the impact of Global Insight acquisition. Sales margins within our APAC segment improved to 62.3% from 57.7%. This increase was principally due to an increase in the higher margin subscription based products combined with a decrease in lower margin services and the impact of foreign currency fluctuations which have a more dramatic

impact on revenue than they do cost of revenue. In addition, the restructuring in the third quarter of 2008 resulted in reduced costs of revenue in the Americas and EMEA segments in 2009.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses were \$248 million for the first nine months of 2009, an increase of 14%. Stock-based compensation expense included in SG&A increased \$10.0 million to \$42.3 million. Excluding stock-based compensation, organic SG&A decreased \$1.3 million as we continue to carefully control operating costs. Acquisitions contributed \$35.8 million of the increase. Foreign currency movements decreased SG&A by \$13.9 million. As a percentage of revenue and excluding stock-based compensation expense, SG&A decreased to 29.0% for the first nine months of 2009 compared to 30.2% for the first nine months of 2008.

Restructuring Charge. During the third quarter of 2008, we executed a restructuring initiative which primarily affected the Americas and EMEA segments. This initiative was undertaken to further the realignment of our resources around our regional organizational structure and to further transform our knowledge-based data accumulation operations to ensure continuous improvement in the quality of the critical information and insight we deliver to our customers. During the course of the restructuring, we reduced our aggregate workforce by approximately 7%, we eliminated certain contractor positions and we closed certain offices. The restructuring charge of \$12.5 million was incurred in its entirety during the third quarter of 2008 and was comprised primarily of employee severance and termination benefits. Approximately \$5.8 million of the charge related to our Americas segment, \$6.3 million pertained to our EMEA segment and \$0.4 million related to corporate costs.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses. Depreciation and amortization expenses were \$36.0 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 28% over the prior year. The increase was primarily due to addition of depreciable and amortizable assets from acquisitions made within the last year.

Operating Income. Operating income was \$126 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 44% over the prior year. As a percentage of revenue, operating income increased to 17.8% for the first nine months of 2009 from 14.3% for the same period of 2008. The 2008 operating income was impacted by a restructuring charge of \$12.5 million. Without this charge, the operating income as a percentage of revenue would have been 16.4% in 2008.

Operating income for our Americas segment was \$140 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 22% over the prior year. The increase was principally due to the additional revenue discussed above coupled with our ability to leverage a relatively fixed-cost structure with our subscriptions-based products. The 2008 period also included a restructuring charge of \$5.8 million. As a percentage of revenue, Americas operating income increased to 31.5% from 30.6% in the first nine months of 2008 primarily due to the restructuring charge which was partially offset by an increase in amortization. Without the restructuring charge, the operating income as a percentage of revenue would have been 32.2% through the third quarter of 2008. The normalized decrease of operating margins in 2009 is primarily due to the higher depreciation and amortization expense in 2009.

Operating income for our EMEA segment was \$40.9 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 43% over the prior year. This increase is primarily due to the higher growth in higher margin subscription products in 2009 and decreases in lower margin service offerings along with and the \$6.3 million 2008 restructuring charge. As a percentage of revenue, EMEA operating income increased to 19.6% for the nine months ended August 31, 2009 compared to 14.7% for the nine months ended August 31, 2008. Without the restructuring charge, the operating income as a percentage of revenue would have been 18.0% through the third quarter of 2008.

Operating income for our APAC segment was \$17.8 million for the first nine months of 2009, an increase of 49%. Operating income increased due to the increase in sales. As a percentage of revenue, APAC operating income increased to 31.5% for the nine months ended August 31, 2009 from 28.4% for the nine months ended August 31, 2008. This increase was due to the mix of products sold with higher growth of higher margin subscription-based products in 2009.

Operating expenses for our shared services were \$72.9 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 7%. This increase related primarily to the additional expenses associated with our acquisitions, our quote-to-cash system implementation and other initiatives. As a percentage of revenue, operating expenses for our shared services was 10.3% for the first nine months of 2009 compared to 11.1% for the first nine months of 2008.

Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate for the nine months ended August 31, 2009 was 23.4%, compared to 28.7% for the nine months ended August 31, 2008. The 2009 rate reflects discrete period tax benefits recognized from the successful outcome of a French tax appeal and a favorable UK tax ruling in the second quarter of 2009.

Financial Condition

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable has decreased by \$40.6 million, or 20%, to \$167 million compared to \$208 million as of November 30, 2008. The decrease is attributable primarily to the seasonality of billings.

Table of Contents

Accrued Compensation. Accrued compensation was \$30.5 million as of August 31, 2009, compared to \$39.1 million as of November 30, 2008, a decrease of 22%. The decrease was primarily attributable to disbursement of annual incentive bonuses during the first quarter partially offset by the accruals made for the 2009 bonus plan through August 31, 2009.

Deferred Revenue. Deferred revenue was \$310 million as of August 31, 2009, compared to \$288 million as of November 30, 2008, an increase of 8%. The increase was primarily attributable to the timing of annual billings as well as both organic and acquisition related growth. Year-over-year growth was 17%, of which organic deferred revenue increased 5%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of August 31, 2009, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$118 million and \$77.3 million of debt. We have generated strong cash flows from operations over the last few years. As a result of these factors, as well as the remaining availability of funds under our \$385.0 million credit facility, we believe we will have sufficient cash to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the timing and extent of spending to support product development efforts, future acquisitions, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the timing of introductions of new products, changing technology, investments in our internal business applications and the continued market acceptance of our offerings. We could be required, or could elect, to seek additional funding through public or private equity or debt financing for any possible future acquisitions. Additional funds may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. We expect our capital expenditures, excluding potential acquisitions, to be approximately \$23 million for 2009.

Share Repurchase Program

During 2006, our board of directors approved a program to reduce the dilutive effects of employee equity grants, by allowing employees to surrender shares back to the Company for a value equal to their statutory tax liability. IHS then pays the statutory tax on behalf of the employee. Additionally, our board of directors periodically approves additional buyback programs whereby IHS acquires shares in the open market to more fully offset the dilutive effect of our employee equity programs. During the three months ended August 31, 2009, we accepted 41,198 shares surrendered by employees under the tax withholding program for approximately \$2.0 million, or \$49.20 per share. In the first nine months of 2009, we accepted 210,250 shares surrendered by employees under the tax withholding program for approximately \$9.5 million, or \$45.29 per share. No shares were repurchased in the first nine months of 2009 pursuant to a share buyback program. Since the inception of these programs, we have withheld for tax 909,644 shares of our Class A common stock for approximately \$45.2 million, or \$49.70 per share and we have repurchased 1,889,557 shares for approximately \$94.7 million or \$50.13 per share pursuant to the stock buyback program.

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$173 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, an increase of 25%. The increase was principally due to our business growing profitably year over year. Additionally, bonus payments were slightly less in the first quarter of 2009 compared to the same period in 2008 and we made lower tax payments in 2009. Our subscription-based business model typically generates a high rate of cash flow and is aided by the following:

- positive working capital characteristics that do not generally require substantial working capital increases to support our growth;
- a cash-for-tax rate that continues to trend lower than our effective tax rate; and
- our well-capitalized balance sheet.

The positive cash flow impact of our growing business in the first nine months of 2009 was partially offset by the outflow of cash related to our rationalization efforts that occurred at IHS Global Insight.

Net cash used in investing activities was approximately \$79.1 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009, compared to \$138 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2008. The change is driven primarily by the amount of acquisitions in the first nine months of 2008 in comparison to 2009 and new office space build-outs.

Net cash used in financing activities was \$16.9 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2009 compared to \$58.5 million for the nine months ended August 31, 2008. Repurchases of common stock were \$9.5 million in the first nine months of 2009 compared to \$56.9 million in the first nine months of 2008. Net repayments on the credit facility were \$10.0 million in the first nine months of 2009 in addition to the net repayment of a portion of the notes due to the sellers of Prime of \$9.3 million.

Table of Contents

Credit Facility and Other Debt

On September 7, 2007, we entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (the Revolver). The \$385 million unsecured revolving credit agreement allows us, under certain conditions, to increase the facility to a maximum of \$500 million. The agreement expires in September 2012.

The interest rates for borrowing under the Revolver are based upon our Leverage Ratio, which is the ratio of Consolidated Funded Indebtedness to rolling four quarter Consolidated Earnings Before Interest Expense, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA), as defined in the Revolver. The rate ranges from the applicable LIBOR plus 50 basis points to 125 basis points or the agent bank s base rate. A commitment fee is payable periodically and ranges from 10 to 25 basis points based upon our Leverage Ratio. The Revolver contains certain financial and other covenants, including limitations on capital lease obligations and maximum Leverage and Interest Coverage Ratios, as defined in the Revolver.

As of August 31, 2009, we were in compliance with all of the covenants in the agreement and had \$70.0 million of outstanding borrowings with an annual interest rate of 0.81%. In addition, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately \$1.3 million as of August 31, 2009.

As of August 31, 2009, we also had \$7.3 million of non-interest bearing notes that were issued to the sellers of Prime. These notes are due upon demand and are therefore recorded in Short-term Debt in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

We have no off-balance sheet transactions.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our management makes a number of significant estimates, assumptions and judgments in the preparation of our financial statements. See Management s Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates in our 2008 Form 10-K for a discussion of the estimates and judgments necessary in our accounting for revenue recognition, valuation of long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill, income taxes, pension and post-retirement benefits, and stock-based compensation.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

For information regarding our exposure to certain market risk, see Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, in our 2008 Form 10-K. There were no material changes to our market risk exposure during the first nine months of fiscal 2009.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company has evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as amended, are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports required to be filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in litigation, most of which is incidental to our business. In our opinion, no litigation to which we currently are a party is likely to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Table of Contents

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors associated with the business previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Edgar Filing	ı: IHS Inc.	- Form	10-Q
--------------	-------------	--------	------

None.	
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities	
None.	

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Index of Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:

Exhibit	
Number	Description
31.1*	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act.
31.2*	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act.
32.1*	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed electronically herewith.

26

Table of Contents

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on September 24, 2009.

IHS INC.

By: /s/ Heather Matzke-Hamlin

Name: Heather Matzke-Hamlin

Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting

Officer

27